Filed 07-23-2020

Page 1 of 47

RECEIVED 07-23-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV Case No. 2020AP000298-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH G. GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Final Orders Regarding a Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered in the Dane County Circuit Court, the Honorable Valerie Bailey-Rihn, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATHILYNNE A. GROTELUESCHEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085045

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1770 grotelueschenk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was there sufficient evidence to support the circuit court's entry of an order for involuntary medication under *Sell v. U.S.*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

Circuit court answered: Yes.

2. Was the circuit court the proper venue for a motion to lift the automatic stay of the involuntary medication order?

Circuit court answered: Yes.

3. Does a circuit court have authority to toll the time period for the commitment to restore a defendant to competency when an automatic stay of an involuntary medication order is entered?

Circuit court answered: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a) as this case presents issues of first impression. Mr. Green does not request oral argument, though he would welcome it if the court were to deem it helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 27, 2019, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Joseph G. Green with first-degree intentional homicide, use of a dangerous weapon. (2:1).

An initial appearance was held the same day. (38). At that time, cash bail was set and the matter was set over for a preliminary hearing. (38:5-6).

On the date of the preliminary hearing, however, defense counsel requested that the court order a competency evaluation. (39:2). An order for competency examination was entered and, pursuant to that order, a competency report was subsequently filed by Dr. Craig Schoenecker. (9; 12).

In his report, Dr. Schoenecker indicated that, in addition to his examination of Mr. Green, he reviewed the criminal complaint and records from the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access Program. (12:1). He concluded that Mr. Green met the criteria for "Other Specified Schizophrenia and other Psychotic Disorder." (12:2). He also concluded that Mr. Green was incompetent, but would regain competency "if treated at one of the state mental health institutes." (12:3). Further, Dr. Schoenecker indicated that it was his belief that medications would be required to restore Mr. Green's competency. (12:3).

Dr. Schoenecker's report was admitted into evidence at the competency hearing held on February 10, 2020. (40:9; App. 115). During his

 $\mathbf{2}$

testimony at that hearing, Dr. Schoenecker explained of Mr. that his examination Green lasted approximately one hour. (40:5; App. 111). He confirmed that, based upon that examination, it was his opinion that Mr. Green was not competent but could be restored to competency within the statutory timeframe if treated at a state mental health institute. (40:5-6; App. 111-112). Dr. Schoenecker further explained that in his opinion, the primary treatment for Mr. Green should consist of "[a]ntipsychotic-type medication." (40:7; App. 113). Finally, Dr. Schoenecker testified that antipsychotic-type medication would be substantially likely to render Mr. Green competent to proceed in the criminal case, would be substantially unlikely to have side effects that undermine the fairness of the trial, and would be medically appropriate. (40:7-8; App. 113-114).

On cross-examination. Dr. Schoenecker admitted that he had not obtained any information about Mr. Green's prior treatment, other than what Mr. Green reported, and that he did not verify whether Mr. Green had ever been treated with medications or had adverse reactions to them. (40:11; App. 117). The doctor also admitted that there are approximately 13 different antipsychotic-type medications and that they have different potential side effects, some of which may interfere with a person's ability to proceed in a criminal case. (40:12; App. 118).

3

Following the doctor's testimony, and over defense counsel's objection, the circuit court found Mr. Green incompetent and entered an order for the involuntary administration of medication. (40:18-22; App. 124-128). Specifically, the court stated:

> I will order involuntary medication. Why? One, it is necessary to further the important government interests, which \mathbf{is} allowing Mr. Green to be treated to competency so he is able to assist in his defense for the trial. The State has no interest in trying people that are incompetent and that are unable to assist with their own defense. This is not that type of country. So I think there is a very important reason to have medication in that it will allow that to occur prior to having a trial in this matter.

> I think it is likely to render him competent to be able to stand trial. And I think it is -- the testimony was it's substantially unlikely to have side effects that would undermine the fairness of the trial. Obviously, in three months, if there is concerns about the effect of the medication the defense can raise that with this Court in the next review hearing.

> It is necessary because I don't believe there is any alternative, less intrusive treatments that have been -- that can be done. Otherwise, we will be back here in three months with the same results. I do believe it is medically appropriate...

(40:21-22; App. 127-128).

An order of commitment for treatment (incompetency) was entered. (13; App. 101-102). Thereafter, defense counsel filed a notice of appeal and an emergency motion for automatic stay of involuntary medication order. (15; 16). The circuit court set the matter for a hearing.

At the hearing, the state agreed that Mr. Green was entitled to the automatic stay of the involuntary medication order. (41:2; App. 132). It also alerted the circuit court to the fact that it intended to file a motion to lift the automatic stay and wanted an evidentiary hearing to address the issue of irreparable harm. (41:3; App. 133). There was some debate about the proper venue for the motion, but ultimately, the circuit court granted the automatic stay and decided that it would hear the motion to lift that stay. (41:3-5; App. 133-136). An amended order of commitment for treatment, which noted, "[t]he administration of involuntary medication is stayed until further order of the Court," was then filed. (18; App. 103-04).

The state subsequently filed a motion to lift the automatic stay. (19). In it, the state argued that there was a strong likelihood it would succeed on appeal, as the $Sell^1$ factors were met by the court's initial order, and that it wanted to take testimony to establish that Mr. Green would not suffer irreparable harm if the stay was lifted. (19:4-8). The state also filed a motion

¹ Sell v. U.S., 539 U.S. 166 (2003).

Case 2020AP000298 Appellant Brief

Filed 07-23-2020

to toll statutory time to bring defendant to competence. (26).

Defense counsel filed briefs in opposition to the state's motions, as well as procedural objections. (20; 28; 29). A two-day hearing was held on May 6 and May 19, 2020. (42; 43; App. 144-249).

Despite the state's position that the *Sell* factors had been met at the competency hearing, it attempted to supplement the record with additional evidence on those factors at the motion hearing. (19:4-7). Specifically, the state indicated that it was planning to have the witness address the issues raised in defense counsel's brief opposing the motion to lift the stay - in particular, he intended to have the doctor testify about a specific treatment plan. (42:11-14, 20-25; App. 154-157, 162-168). The circuit court overruled defense counsel's objection to this evidence, finding that it should "make as full of a record as [it could] on this issue of whether the stay be lifted." (42:14-16;should App. 157 - 159). Ultimately, however, the matter was set over in order to address the state's motion to lift the stay, motion to "order involuntary medications based on additional factors," and motion to toll statutory time limits to bring the defendant to competence. (42:25-28; App. 169-171).

Prior to the next hearing, the state filed a notice of treatment plan which contained the specific medication and dosage that the state was requesting the court to order in Mr. Green's case. (27). The state did not file any written motion requesting to reopen evidence or supplement the record.

When the hearing resumed on May 19, 2020, the circuit court found that it had the authority to decide the state's motion to lift the stay. (43:3-6; App. 182-185). Further, the circuit court found that, as the state had the burden of proof on the motion to lift the stay, it had the "right to supplement on this motion as to whether or not the factors have been met or not." (43:7; App. 186). Defense counsel then made a record of her continuing objection to the state presenting additional evidence in support of the *Sell* factors. (43:8-9; App. 187-188). In response, the court noted that this was an issue that the court of appeals will have to decide but that the state was "entitled to put on evidence." (43:14; App. 193).

The state's supplemental evidence consisted of Schoenecker. witness. Dr. Dr. Schoenecker one testified about Haldol. a first-generation antipsychotic medication. Specifically, he testified about its potential side effects, as well as ways to try to mitigate those side effects. (43:16-20; App. 195-199). He also testified that, "on paper Haldol would be an appropriate treatment," for Mr. Green, but he was hesitant to say that it would be substantially likely to render him competent to stand trial as "individuals' responses to particular medications can vary." (43:20; App. 199). The doctor also declined to say whether or not Haldol would be unlikely to interfere with Mr. Green's ability to assist counsel at trial. (43:21-22; App. 200-201). Finally, the state

elicited Dr. Schoenecker's testimony about permanent side effects that could be caused by Haldol. (43:30-35; App. 209-215).

Importantly, on cross-examination, Dr. Schoenecker acknowledged that no medications had been prescribed for Mr. Green, that his evaluations of Mr. Green were not for the purpose of prescribing him medications, and that he had not reviewed Mr. Green's treatment records. (43:38-39, 41; App. 217-218, 220). He testified that before a medication, such as Haldol, would be prescribed for Mr. Green, Mr. Green would have a face-to-face evaluation with a psychiatrist and an internist, who would acquire medical history and identify any potential comorbid medical conditions he may have; after that meeting, a treatment plan would be (43:37-38.)46: App. 216-217. prepared. 225). Dr. Schoenecker also stated that it would be outside of professional guidelines for a medical professional to prescribe medications to someone without having done an assessment or having a treatment relationship. (43:38; App. 217).

After arguments, the circuit court admitted that it has struggled with this area of law and went on to make new findings on the *Sell* factors. (43:56; App. 235). Specifically, with respect to the first *Sell* factor, the court found that it was undisputed that the state has shown an important governmental interest. (43:57; App. 236). Turning to the second factor, it noted:

8

In this case, it's undisputed, based on the doctor's testimony and expertise, that the administration of drugs would be substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial. It doesn't say automatically 100 percent guaranteed. It says substantially likely, which is what he testified. And then, also, the other second prong in that second factor is unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with defendant's ability to conduct a trial defense thereby rendering the trial unfair. Under *Sell* and as *Fitzgerald* says, I have to consider would the drug have side effects that would interfere significantly with the ability to assist counsel in conducting a trial making the trial unfair.

I haven't heard any testimony that that would occur. There is [sic] some potential side effects of this drug. But most of those are from long-term use or from -- that can go away if they show up. And so the issue of whether or not this would affect Mr. Green's ability to think, well, it's going to impact it as into him being able to assist the defense, not to the extent of making it unable to assist in his defense.

(43:58-59; App. 237-238). With regard to the third *Sell* factor – less intrusive alternatives – the circuit court stated:

I would find that before this Court would order involuntary medication, that part of any order requiring involuntary medication would be that the Court would direct in that order that Mr. Green accept the medication first or be found in contempt. And if he does refuse the medication, then he would be entitled then -- or Mendota would be entitled to forcibly administer the medication.

I think the testimony here that has been undisputed is that he does not believe he needs medications. And the testimony by the doctor was there is no less intrusive method to help somebody with psychotics [sic], unless they accept medication. So either he's going to have to voluntarily accept the medication, or I would find that the Court would allow involuntary medication.

(43:60; App. 239). Finally, moving to the fourth factor, the court held:

The fourth factor is that the drug is medically appropriate. It's in the patient's best medical interests in light of the medical condition. I think that has been satisfied here as well because this is a situation where if left untreated, the situation gets worse. I believe that the drug has been adequately explained, that it has minimal side effects on this level of dosage for this limited time frame.

(43:60-61; App. 239-240).

The court then granted the state's motion to lift the stay, discussing the factors set forth in $Scott^2$. (43:61-62; App. 240-241). Finally, the circuit court granted the state's motion to toll the statutory time limits. It held that if the court of appeals stayed the

² State v. Scott, 2018 WI 74, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141.

administration of medication, the time limits should be tolled and Mr. Green could appeal so the court of appeals could give "guidance on that issue as well." (43:62-69; App. 241-248).

The circuit court entered an order granting the state's motion to lift stay of involuntary medications and toll statutory time limits to bring a defendant to competency. (35; App. 105-106). That order provides that Mr. Green shall "voluntarily medicate pursuant to the 'Treatment Plan' identified in this order," and if he refuses, he be held in contempt and the "medical providers...involuntarily medicate the Defendant pursuant to the 'Treatment Plan'..." (35; App. 105-106).

Mr. Green subsequently sought reinstatement of the stay pending appeal in this court. On May 20, 2020 this court granted an emergency stay of the involuntary medication order. After further briefing, however, this court subsequently issued a decision denying Mr. Green's motion for relief pending appeal and lifting the temporary stay.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Individuals have "a 'significant' constitutionally protected 'liberty interest' in 'avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs." *Sell v. U.S.*, 539 U.S. 166, 178, 123 S.Ct. 2174 (2003)(quoting *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 221, 110 S.Ct.

Filed 07-23-2020

Page 18 of 47

1028 (1990)). The use of antipsychotics "threatens an individual's 'mental, as well as physical, integrity." *U.S. v. Watson*, 793 F.3d 416, 419 (4th Cir. 2015).

On the physical side, there is the "violence inherent in forcible medication," compounded when it comes to antipsychotics by the possibility of "serious, even fatal, side effects,"... But it is the invasion into a person's mental state that truly distinguishes antipsychotics, a class of medications expressly intended "to alter the will and the mind of the subject."

Id. (internal citations omitted).

Due to this substantial liberty interest, the United States Supreme Court has found that the Constitution only allows the government's forcible administration antipsychotics of "in limited circumstances." Sell v. U.S., 539 U.S. at 169. In Sell, the Court set forth a standard, consisting of the four Sell factors, which must be met before the involuntary administration of drugs to restore a defendant to competency will be permitted. Id. at 179-180. It also recognized that the cases in which it will be allowed should be "rare." Id. at 179-180. Such cases are the "exception, not the rule." Watson, 793 F.3d at 419.

Here, the circuit court failed to acknowledge the significance of its involuntary medication order, misapplied the *Sell* factors, and erroneously found that the state had met its burden in this case. It also erred in finding that it had the authority to hear the state's motion to lift the automatic stay of the involuntary medication order and in granting the state's motion to toll the statutory time limits for bringing Mr. Green to competency.

I. The state failed to present sufficient evidence to support an order for involuntary medication under *Sell*.

At the competency hearing, the state presented a doctor who testified generally regarding Mr. Green's need for "antipsychotic-type" medication and parroted the language of the *Sell* factors. Despite *Sell's* rigorous requirements, the circuit court found this evidence sufficient to support an involuntary medication order. After its inadequacies were pointed out by defense counsel, however, the state sought to present additional evidence on the *Sell* factors.

The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in allowing the state to reopen evidence, and consequently, any additional evidence presented at the May 6 and 19 hearing should not be considered when determining if the *Sell* factors were met.

Even if the court considers that additional evidence, however, the state fell far short of meeting its burden to prove the *Sell* factors by clear and convincing evidence. The circuit court was not presented with an individualized treatment plan, nor did it find that there were no less intrusive means available. Consequently, the circuit court's orders allowing Mr. Green to be involuntarily medicated with antipsychotics must be vacated.

Page 20 of 47

A. Legal standard and standard of review.

A circuit court may order involuntary medication to restore a defendant to competency only if it finds that the following four *Sell* factors are proven by clear and convincing evidence:

- (1) that an important government interest is at stake;
- medication will (2) that involuntary significantly further that important government interest, i.e., the proposed drug substantially likely to render is the defendant competent for trial and unlikely side effects which would to have significantly interfere with his ability to assist counsel;
- (3) that involuntary medication is necessary to further that interest, i.e., that any alternative less intrusive treatments, or less intrusive means for administering the drugs, will not work; and,
- (4) that the specific type of drug to be administered is medically appropriate.

Sell, 539 U.S. at 180-183; See also State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶¶2, 14-17, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165; U.S. v. Debendetto, 757 F.3d 547, 552 (7th Cir. 2014); Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b).

Essentially, the circuit court in this case was required to decide whether the state, "in light of the efficacy, the side effects, the possible alternatives, and the medical appropriateness of *a particular*

Page 21 of 47

course of antipsychotic drug treatment, [had] shown a need for that treatment sufficiently important to overcome the individual's protected interest in refusing it." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 183 (emphasis added).

Whether the evidence presented satisfies a legal standard poses a question of law which this court reviews de novo. *Langlade County v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶47, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277.

B. The circuit court erred in allowing the state to reopen evidence on the *Sell* factors.

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