Filed 09-03-2020

Page 1 of 47

RECEIVED 09-03-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP298-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH G. GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION ORDER, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE VALERIE L. BAILEY-RIHN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MAURA WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Green's involuntary medication order comports with *Sell*.
 - A. *Sell* criteria for granting an involuntary medication order.
 - 1. The circuit court must ensure that the order satisfies the four *Sell* factors; judicial oversight is key.

A defendant who is incompetent to stand trial may be subject to an involuntary medication order to bring him to competency. See Sell, 539 U.S. 166. Due process requires that a trial court may issue such an order only if it makes four specific findings or conclusions. Sell, 539 U.S. at 178–81. Those findings or conclusions pertain to: (1) an important governmental interest; (2) involuntary medication furthering the interest; (3) the necessity of medication; and (4) the medical appropriateness of the medication. Id. at 180–81. In State v. Fitzgerald, our supreme court confirmed the applicability of the Sell test to involuntary medication orders in Wisconsin. 2019 WI 69, ¶¶ 14–18, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165. Neither Sell nor Fitzgerald provided the necessary guidance for what the government must do to satisfy the fourfactor test. Several decisions from other jurisdictions have fleshed out the Sell criteria somewhat. For example, in United States v. Chavez, 734 F.3d 1247, 1254 (10th Cir. 2013), the court vacated an involuntary medication order because it did not include an individualized treatment plan specifying the proposed drugs that may be administered, the dosages, and the duration of treatment. An individualized treatment plan is the necessary first step to fulfilling the second, third, and fourth Sell requirements. See id. (second and fourth factors); Barrus v. Montana First Judicial Dist. Court, 456 P.3d 577, 579–80, 585–86 (Mont. 2020) (third factor). The State's review of the cases in this area indicates that an individualized treatment plan is a universal requirement.

Importantly, Sell and its progeny insist that a trial court—not a government agency or a medical facility—must determine whether the Sell factors have been met before the defendant may be involuntarily medicated. See United States v. Nicklas, 623 F.3d 1175, 1180 (8th Cir. 2010) (ordering continuing judicial oversight); United States v. Evans, 404 F.3d 227, 241 (4th Cir. 2005); Warren v. State, 778 S.E.2d 749, 764 (Ga. 2015) ("[T]rial courts [must not] cede oversight of such a significant constitutional matter to the State"). "[J]udicial oversight" is key. Chavez, 734 F.3d at 1254. Thus, a reviewing court must determine whether the involuntary medication order signed by the trial court demonstrates that the court, not the agency treating the defendant, is the entity deciding whether the defendant's involuntary medication treatment comports with Sell. Beyond this, there is no specific form the order must take. As long as the order shows both that the court is watching over the defendant's treatment and that the four Sell factors are satisfied, this Court should affirm the involuntary medication order.

2. Federal case law is helpful but not controlling in this case because the federal statutory procedures are different from the corresponding Wisconsin procedures.

Although *Sell* enunciated the four-factor test, it offered little guidance on what exactly a government must do to satisfy the test. This has been left to the lower federal courts and state supreme courts to flesh out.

The statutory procedures for instituting competency and involuntary medication proceedings differ across jurisdictions. *Compare* 18 U.S.C. § 4241, *with* Wis. Stat. § 971.14. Therefore, there can be no one-size-fits-all approach for satisfying *Sell*. Green asks this Court to follow several decisions from federal circuit courts when it decides this case. The State agrees that those cases provide guidance and may be persuasive in some respects. But they are not binding and cannot be determinative due to critical differences in federal and Wisconsin procedure. The question must be whether Green's involuntary medication order satisfies the *Sell* criteria, not whether this Wisconsin proceeding tracks federal court proceedings.

Federal law is consistent with Wisconsin law in some respects, and markedly different in others.

There are several similarities. In both systems, competency and involuntary medication proceedings are triggered when there is reason to doubt the defendant's competency for trial. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 4241(a); Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r). In both systems, the court will order an examination and report to determine competency. 18 U.S.C. § 4241(b); Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)–(3). Under Wisconsin law, the examiner must prepare the competency report within 15 days of the order for examination if an inpatient examination is necessary, and within 30 days if an outpatient examination (e.g., in jail) is allowed. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(c). The federal

Filed 09-03-2020

Page 25 of 47

system allows 30 days for the examination with the possibility of a 15-day extension. 18 U.S.C. §§ 4241(b), 4247(b). After the examination is completed, the trial court in either jurisdiction holds a hearing at which it determines competency. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 4241(b)–(c); Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4). If the court finds the defendant incompetent, he is committed for treatment. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 4241(d); Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5).

The first critical difference between the statutes concerns the contents of the examination report. In Wisconsin, the examiner's initial report "shall include . . . the examiner's opinion on whether the defendant needs medication or treatment." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm). But, whereas the Wisconsin examiner must make a medication recommendation within the first 15 or 30 days of the examination order, the federal statute does not require the examiner to address the medication question until a later time.

The second significant difference is what the trial court determines at the competency hearing. Under Wisconsin law, the court determines both whether the defendant is competent for trial and whether involuntary medication will be administered to restore him to competency. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). In contrast, at a federal competency hearing, the court decides the issue of competency only. If it finds the defendant incompetent, the court "shall commit the defendant to the custody of the Attorney General," who will then "hospitalize the defendant for treatment in a suitable facility," at which the appropriateness of involuntary medication will be assessed. 18 U.S.C. § 4241(d).

The federal hospitalization will continue for a period "not to exceed four months, as is necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability that in the foreseeable future [the defendant] will attain the capacity to permit the proceedings to go forward." *Id.* § 4241(d)(1). It is during this four-month period that medical staff has the

opportunity to evaluate the defendant and determine the efficacy and appropriateness of drug treatment to bring the defendant to competency, and to develop a particularized treatment program. See, e.g., United States v. Grigsby, 712 F.3d 964, 965–67 (6th Cir. 2013); Nicklas, 623 F.3d at 1177. After the four-month assessment, the government returns to court for a second hearing to obtain a Sell medication order. See Grigsby, 712 F.3d at 966–67; Nicklas, 623 F.3d at 1177.

A third important difference is the time the government has to bring the defendant to competency once it obtains an involuntary medication order. In the federal system, the defendant is committed for a "reasonable period of time until" either "his mental condition is so improved that trial may proceed, if the court finds that there is a substantial probability that within such additional period of time he will attain" competency, or "the pending charges against him are disposed of according to law," whichever is earlier. 18 U.S.C. § 4241(d)(2). Note that this indefinite time frame does not even begin until after the four-month evaluation period is completed. The Wisconsin statute provides less time to bring the defendant to competency: "a period not to exceed 12 months, or the maximum sentence specified for the most serious offense with which the defendant is charged, whichever is less." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5).

These enumerated differences between the statutes are critical for *Sell* purposes. Most importantly, the Wisconsin examiner must make a medication recommendation within 15 or 30 days of the court's examination order—before the court has even made the competency finding. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(c), (3)(dm). Meanwhile, the federal counterpart has four months after the completion of the competency hearing to make the same evaluation. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 4241(d)(1). Only then is the government expected to return to court and make its case for involuntary medication. *See Grigsby*, 712 F.3d at 966–67; *Nicklas*, 623 F.3d at 1177. Obviously, the Wisconsin examiner cannot be expected to acquire the same level of detail or knowledge of the defendant's needs in 15 or 30 days that the federal examiner can in four months. For this reason, the federal case law, while illuminating, should be not adopted by this Court to govern Wisconsin state proceedings.

To reiterate, the question should not be, does the Wisconsin case at bar follow the federal case law? The question should be, does the Wisconsin case at bar protect the defendant's liberty interest, by ensuring judicial oversight and satisfaction of the four *Sell* factors?

In this case, the State will show that Green's involuntary medication order does comport with *Sell*. In many respects, the evidence before the circuit court was consistent with rules laid down by the federal case law. To the extent Dr. Schoenecker's testimony left specific questions about Green unanswered, the circuit court's detailed order ensured that the treating physicians will administer the recommended treatment plan only as it accords with Green's specific needs and health conditions, and that any deviation from the plan approved the by court will require additional judicial review. Therefore, the order should be affirmed.

B. The circuit court's order that Green be treated to competency with antipsychotic drugs comports with *Sell*.

The State must prove and the circuit court must find that the four *Sell* factors have been satisfied. In this case, all four *Sell* factors are satisfied. Therefore, this Court should affirm the involuntary medication order.

Page 28 of 47

1. Green concedes that the State satisfied the first *Sell* factor, that the State has an important governmental interest in trying him.

The first *Sell* factor is whether there is an *important* governmental interest at stake, i.e., the prosecution of an individual for a serious crime. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. Here, Green concedes that his prosecution for first-degree intentional homicide is an important governmental interest. (Green's Br. 21.)

2. The involuntary medication order satisfies the second *Sell* factor, that involuntary medication will significantly further the State's interest.

a. The second factor was satisfied by Dr. Schoenecker's testimony.

The second factor is whether "involuntary medication will *significantly further* those concomitant state interests." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181. The court must find that the "administration of the drugs" is both "substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial" and "substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist counsel in conducting a trial defense." *Id*.

In his examination report, Dr. Schoenecker diagnosed Green as suffering from schizophrenia and other psychotic disorder. (R. 12:2.) Based on his psychiatric expertise, he concluded that treatment with Haldol, as set forth in the treatment plan, was substantially likely to bring Green to competency and substantially unlikely to cause side effects that would interfere with Green's ability to assist counsel at trial. (R. 43:20–21.) Dr. Schoenecker explained these conclusions in great detail at the May 19 hearing. *See supra* at 8–12. The circuit correctly concluded that Dr. Schoenecker's testimony satisfied the second *Sell* factor.

b. Green's argument that the circuit court should not have considered the May 19 hearing testimony is not supported by the law he cites, and if accepted would lead to inequitable and inefficient results.

Green asks this Court to ignore the May 19 hearing testimony because, in his view, the circuit court should not have allowed the testimony.

A litigant does not have a "strict right to reopen a case for . . . additional evidence," but the trial court has the discretion to reopen on "general principles of equity and justice including whether the opposing party is prejudiced." *In re Javornik's Estate*, 35 Wis. 2d 741, 746–47, 151 N.W.2d 721 (1967). "The court may on its own motion reopen for further testimony in order to make a more complete record in the interests of equity and justice. This rule promotes efficient judicial administration in avoiding another trial due to an incomplete record." *State v. Hanson*, 85 Wis. 2d 233, 237, 270 N.W.2d 212 (1978) (citations omitted). Other than the exercise of discretion, and consideration of potential prejudice to the opposing party, there are no particular restrictions, such as evidence to correct a "technical omission," as Green suggests. (*See* Green's Br. 18–19.)

Here, the State indicated to the court and Green on May 6 that it intended to introduce additional evidence to support the involuntary medication order as part of its motion to lift the automatic stay order. (R. 42:6, 12, 14.) The State did not initially frame this as a motion to supplement or reopen, but, at the suggestion of defense counsel, the circuit court interpreted the State's argument as such. (R. 42:26); *see supra* at 7. The court scheduled an evidentiary hearing for two weeks hence to give the parties time to prepare for the additional evidence. (R. 42:27–28.) One supplement to the State's case was a Notice of Treatment Plan, which the State filed on May 6, (R. 27), giving Green plenty of time to review it before the May 19 hearing.

Permitting the State to supplement the record was an appropriate exercise of the circuit court's discretion. First, Green was not prejudiced. The State made clear to Green on May 6 that it intended to address the substantive *Sell* issues raised in Green's brief responding to the State's motion to lift the stay. *See supra* at 5–7. The State also shared its proposed treatment plan with Green that day. (R. 27.) Green also learned on May 6 that the State intended to rely on Dr. Schoenecker's April 20 report of his April 17 reexamination of Green, a copy of which was timely served on Green. (R. 42:11– 12; *see also* R. 24.) Because Green was fully apprised of the State's intention to introduce further evidence on the *Sell* factors, and had copies of the treatment plan and the April 20 examination report, reopening the evidentiary hearing did not prejudice him.

Second, although defense counsel objected to the additional testimony from Dr. Schoenecker many times on many grounds, counsel actually asked for and implicitly approved the additional evidentiary hearing. At the May 6 hearing counsel stated: "If the State wishes to re-address this issue, as far as whether they think they now have grounds for an involuntary medication order, then *they should file a motion in advance of the hearing so we have enough time to be sufficiently prepared* to address that particular concern." (R. 42:21 (emphasis added).) As noted above, the court agreed and deemed the prosecutor's argument "as a motion that this Court should order involuntary medications based on additional factors." (R. 42:26.) Dr. Schoenecker's May 19 testimony was in support of that oral motion granted by the circuit court. Now, Green cries foul because the circuit court followed his counsel's advice in its procedural ruling.

Third, Green's position is out-of-step with reasoned judicial decision-making and the realities of competency proceedings in Wisconsin. By the time the stay-lifting motion was being heard, Dr. Schoenecker had completed a threemonth update of his evaluation of Green. (R. 40.) He had also had the opportunity to confer with Dr. Eric Knudson at Mendota regarding a treatment plan for Green, and had developed an individualized treatment plan accordingly.⁶ (R. 42:18–19.) This new information was highly relevant to the substantive issue before the circuit court: whether, consistent with *Sell*, Green could be involuntarily medicated. It makes no sense to deprive the court of a complete factual record when, as Green himself admits, the court had the discretion to reopen the hearing. *Hanson*, 85 Wis. 2d at 237; *Javornik*, 35 Wis. 2d at 747.

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